RECEIVED

May 20 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
R. Ferrell Cothran Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000292

The State,Respondent,

v.

Shawn Douglas Custer,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

E. Charles Grose, Jr.
S.C. Bar Number 66063
The Grose Law Firm, LLC
404 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 538-4466
(864) 538-4405 (fax)
Email: charles@groselawfirm.com

Attorney for Appellant Shawn Custer

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Question I

The trial judge erred as a matter of law by failing to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Shawn Custer had actual or constructive knowledge that the backhoe, dump truck, and trailer stolen from High Hills Rural Water Company were located on his property.

Question II

The trial judge erred as a matter of law by instructing the jurors Shawn Custer's knowledge and possession of stolen backhoe, dump truck, and trailer, belonging to the High Hills Rural Water Company, may be inferred because the stolen property was found on real property under his control.

Question III

The trial judge erred as a matter of law by failing to suppress the GPS data showing times and movements of the backhoe, dump truck, and trailer, belonging to the High Hills Rural Water Company, when the Solicitor failed to disclose that evidence prior to trial as required by to Rule 5, SCRCrimP.

STATEMENT OF CASE

The Sumter County Grand Jury indicted Shawn D. Custer for one count of receiving stolen goods valued in excess of ten thousand dollars regarding a backhoe belonging to the High Hills Rural Water Company and one count of receiving stolen goods valued between two thousand and ten thousand dollars regarding a dump truck and trailer belonging to the same water company. R. 3, 15. From February 13-15, 2019, the State of South Carolina tried Mr. Custer before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. and a jury. Edgar R. Donald, Jr., of the Third Circuit Solicitor's Office, represented the State. Patrick M. Killen represented Mr. Custer. R. 11. The jurors convicted Mr. Custer as charged; however, while the jurors were deliberating, the State dismissed the count of receiving stolen goods valued

between two thousand dollars and ten thousand dollars.¹ R. 413-14, 416-17. Judge Cothran sentenced Mr. Custer to seven years imprisonment, suspended to time served, with credit for time served, and probation for three years with a special condition requiring him to complete forty hours community service. R. 1, 420-21. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Shawn Custer was born in Ohio. He enlisted in the United States Air Force on February 21, 1991 and moved to South Carolina when he was stationed at Shaw Air Force Base in Sumter. Initially, his career specialty was “aircraft armament for the F-15 Strike Eagle.” After receiving additional training, his specialty became “satellite wide band,” which “consisted of airborne communications, tactical communications, [and] networking communications.” His position required a security clearance. He obtained the rank of an E-5 staff sergeant.

After ten years in the Air Force, Mr. Custer received an honorable discharge. He then entered the civil service with the Department of Defense. After three years in the civil service, Mr. Custer became a contractor working for the Air Force Central Command (“AFCENT”) “general as his communications engineer” at Shaw Air Force Base. In 2007,

¹ At some point, the trial court and counsel discussed whether or not this case should have involved one charge or two charges for receiving stolen goods. “To alleviate that” concern, the Solicitor agreed to “dismiss the receiving stolen goods two thousand [to] ten thousand” dollars charge. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180(D) (“For purposes of this section, the receipt of multiple items in a single transaction or event constitutes a single offense.”). *Cf. United States v. Dixon*, 509 U.S. 688, 696 (1993) (Double Jeopardy Clause “applies both to successive punishments and to successive prosecutions for the same criminal offense”); *State v. Greene*, 423 S.C. 263, 284, 814 S.E.2d 496, 507 (2018) (“the conviction itself is considered a punishment and that, too, must be vacated”) (citing *Ball v. United States*, 470 U.S. 856, 864-65 (1985)); *State v. Brown*, 319 S.C. 400, 408, 461 S.E.2d 828, 832 (Ct. App. 1995) (where the alleged possession with intent to distribute and distribution arise from the same conduct, such that the possession would merge into the distribution”).

after working for AFCENT for over ten years, Mr. Custer pursued his “longtime dream to have an automotive shop that did custom repair of vehicles” by opening Sumter County Customs. He later changed the name of the business to Sumter County Tire, Auto, and Lift so people would understand he also offered general automotive repair. R. 31-22.

In 2006, Mr. Custer purchased sixty-five acres in Sumter County and built a log home. He sold seven and one-half acres to a close friend who built a house on the land. In 2015 and at the time of his trial, Mr. Custer still owned fifty-five acres. His property is wooded, has multiple entrances, and includes paths for riding four wheelers.² R. 322-29.

On Saturday, September 19, 2015, Shawn and Nicole Custer³ attended Jason Reddick’s wedding in Greenville, South Carolina. On Saturday afternoon, they checked into the Hilton Hotel on Haywood Road. The wedding started at 6:00 p.m. on the campus of Furman University. They stayed for the reception, which was also on the Furman University campus. They returned to the Hilton at midnight. On Sunday, September 20, 2015, Shawn and Nicole Custer checked out of the Hilton and ate lunch at TGI Fridays. After lunch, they shopped at Target, and Nicole bought Halloween decorations. They finished shopping at 6:45 p.m. and returned to Sumter. When Shawn and Nicole Custer got home between 8:00 and 8:30 p.m., it was dark. Ms. Custer started the laundry. Mr. Custer

² At the time of this incident, Maria Brewington lived on land adjoining Shawn Custer’s land. She is familiar with Mr. Custer’s land and confirmed there are four entrances large enough to drive a car or truck onto Mr. Custer’s land. R. 259-66. For forty years, Francis Campbell, Sr. lived a mile from Mr. Custer’s land. He testified its “a secluded area” where people frequently illegally dump trash. R. 273-80.

³ Desiree Nicole Custer grew up in Houston, Texas. She was a resettlement specialist in the United States Army and was stationed in Sumter. She met Shawn Custer in 2013, and they got married in 2014. She was a paralegal for Jason Reddick until she retired in 2017. Her maiden name was Desiree Nicole Jackson. R. 297-301, 305.

brought their four dogs inside the enclosed garage. They went to bed between 9:00 and 9:30 p.m. and watched TV. R. 297-310, 329-34; Defense Ex. 12 and 13, R. 454-56.

The next morning, Ms. Custer woke up around 6:00 a.m. During the night, she did not hear anything unusual. When she left for work at 7:15 a.m., she did not see the backhoe, dump truck, or trailer. Mr. Custer woke up between 6:30 and 7:00 a.m. He was still at the house when his wife went to work. During the night, Mr. Custer did not hear anything unusual. Nor did he see the backhoe, dump truck, or trailer when he left for work at 7:45 a.m. After he opened his shop and his employees got settled, Mr. Custer took his tractor home and planned to return to work with a pickup truck, belonging to Brad Dollar, that needed repair work. R. 310-13, 334-48, 354.

At 7:30 a.m. on Monday, September 21, 2015, Melvin Dawson, a maintenance worker at the High Hills Rural Water Company,⁴ arrived at work and discovered the company's backhoe was missing. A dump truck and the eighteen-to-twenty feet long trailer used to pull the backhoe were also missing.⁵ He also discovered a link had been cut from the chain that secures the gate to the chain link fence when the company is closed. He called John Loney, who is the executive director of High Hills Rural Water Company, to report the theft. R. 63-82; State's Ex. 4 and 10, R. 427, 433.

⁴ High Hills Rural Water Company "provide[s] potable drinking water to the northern section of Sumter County." The company has an executive director, ten employees, and a nine-member board of directors. R. 111-12. Although High Hills is Mr. Custer's water company, he does not know anyone who works there; nor is he familiar with their day-to-day operations. R. 347-48.

⁵ In 2015, the backhoe was valued at \$45,000.00, and the dump truck and trailer, together, were valued between \$2,000.00 and \$10,000.00. R. 113-14.

According to Mr. Loney, the backhoe and dump truck had satellite tracking devices. Locations and movements of these vehicles are tracked by “a company called Fleet Maddox.” Because of the tracking devices, Mr. Loney was able to determine the backhoe and dump truck were located on Shawn Custer’s land. He produced a detained report showing the vehicles left the company’s property at 12:27 a.m. on September 21, 2015 and arriving at Mr. Custer’s property at 12:42 a.m. He also generated a map showing the route followed from the water company to Mr. Custer’s land. Mr. Loney provided the location of the vehicles to the Sumter County Sheriff’s Office. R. 110-47; State’s Ex. 12 and 15, R. 435, 439-41

At 8:27 a.m. on September 21, 2015, the Sheriff’s Office dispatched Deputy Randall Joseph Hillard to the High Hills Rural Water Company.⁶ Mr. Loney gave him the map with the location of the backhoe and dump truck. Deputy Hillard went to Mr. Custer’s property, but he did not see the equipment. He returned to the water company and inquired whether additional information existed. Mr. Loney provided Deputy Hillard with State’s Ex. 12 showing the precise location of the dump truck. Deputy Hillard returned to Mr. Custer’s property, introduced himself to Mr. Custer, who was locking his gate, and explained his reason for being there. Deputy Hillard contacted his supervisor, who instructed him to wait while Investigator Lowman C. Mays, III obtained a search warrant. R. 158-67, 225-26.

Sheriff’s Office Investigator Wayne Dubose arrived and informed Mr. Custer he was investigating the theft of the backhoe, dump truck, and trailer that satellite tracking

⁶ Investigator Mays acknowledged the Sheriff’s Office did not conduct any forensic investigation at the High Hills Rural Water Company. Nor did they interview any employees. R. 235-41.

placed on his property. Mr. Custer “didn’t know anything about a dump truck, trailer, or backhoe.” R. 183-87.

Five or six police officers, including Deputy Hillard, Investigator Dubose, and Investigator Mayes served the search warrant. Law enforcement located the backhoe, parked under some trees 150 feet from the corner of Mr. Custer’s home. They located the dump and trailer “a short distance” from the backhoe.⁷ “[S]ome cut limbs” covered the back of the trailer “camouflaging it.” The trailer was still connected to the dump truck. R. 167-77, 187-222, 225-30; State’s Ex. 1-10, 12, 16, 17, R. 424-33, 435. Mr. Loney went to Mr. Custer’s property and identified the missing equipment as belonging to the water company. R. 129-35; State’s Ex. 10, R. 433.

Investigators Dubose and Mays testified about the forensic investigation. Officers dusted for fingerprints and took swabs from the steering wheels of the two vehicles and the buckles “that attach the tractor to the trailer” for comparison with Mr. Custer’s known DNA sample. Officers also photographed footprints located near the equipment for comparison with Mr. Custer’s boots. Both investigators acknowledged no evidence—forensic or otherwise—connected Mr. Custer to the backhoe, truck, or trailer—other than discovering it on his property. R. 204-22, 230-41.

⁷ Based on the scale to the map, Investigator Dubose testified the backhoe was 150 feet from the corner of Mr. Custer’s home. R. 190-91; State Ex. 17. Investigator Mays placed dump truck and trailer “several hundred yards” down a path. R. 229. Mr. Custer testified the dump truck was found 322 yards from his house. R. 343.

ARGUMENTS

Question I

The trial judge erred as a matter of law by failing to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Shawn Custer had actual or constructive knowledge that the backhoe, dump truck, and trailer stolen from High Hills Rural Water Company were located on his property.

At the conclusion of the State’s case, Shawn Custer moved for a directed verdict because the State failed to produce any evidence that he knowingly received or possessed property he knew or had reason to believe was stolen. R. 242-61. He renewed the directed verdict motion at the close of all evidence. R. 363-65. The trial judge denied the motion because of the inference that arises when stolen “property is found on the property under the defendant’s control.” R. 365-69. The trial judge erred as a matter of law⁸ because the State failed to produce any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence that Mr. Custer knowingly possessed the stolen backhoe, dump truck, and trailer. This Court should reverse the trial court and enter a directed verdict of acquittal.

“It is unlawful for a person to buy, receive, or possess stolen goods, chattels, or other property if the person knows or has reason to believe the goods, chattels, or property is stolen.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180(A). “On motion of the defendant or on its own motion, the court shall direct a verdict in the defendant’s favor on any offense charged in the indictment after the evidence on either side is closed, if there is a failure of competent evidence tending to prove the charge in the indictment.” Rule 19(a), SCRCrimP. *State v. Odems* summarizes the standard for reviewing the denial of a directed motion:

⁸ “In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only.” *State v. Cross*, 427 S.C. 465, 473, 832 S.E.2d 281, 285 (2019).

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. The defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. However, if there is any direct or *substantial* circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury. A circuit judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty.

395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011) (emphasis original) (internal citations omitted). *Cf. State v. Hernandez*, 382 S.C. 620, 677 S.E.2d 603 (2009); *State v. Arnold*, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004); *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004); *State v. Mitchell*, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000); *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C. 129, 322 S.E.2d 450 (1984).

The facts set forth below support this issue on appeal and, by this specific reference, the facts and legal arguments raised elsewhere in this brief relevant to this issue are fully incorporated herein.

None of the prosecution's witnesses provided any evidence linking Mr. Custer to the stolen backhoe, dump truck, and trailer—other than recovering the items on Mr. Custer's land. Mr. Loney acknowledged he had “no evidence that Shawn Custer took or knew that the equipment was on his land.” R. 144-45. Nor did any of the law enforcement officers who testified for the State. Deputy Hilliard “found no evidence connecting Shawn Custer to any of those three items.” Although Investigator Dubose believed Mr. Custer “should have seen it from his house and he should have called somebody,” he admitted it was not possible to see “the entire backhoe” from the house. Investigator Dubose based his belief on a photograph taken at the location where the backhoe was found, looking “through the woods,” to the house, but he acknowledged law enforcement did not take a single picture looking “from the house to the backhoe.” Investigator Mays acknowledged “it is

possible that [Mr. Custer] could not see the truck and trailer from the residence.” As seen above, Investigators Dubose and Mays acknowledged no forensic evidence connected Mr. Custer to the stolen property. R. 177-78, 204-22, 230-41. None of the defense witnesses—Shawn Custer (R. 315-61) and Nicole Custer (R. 297-20) in particular—provided the missing link to the prosecution’s evidence. *See, e.g., State v. Phillips*, 416 S.C. 184, 193, 785 S.E.2d 448, 453 (2016) (“when a defendant presents evidence in his own defense, he waives the right to limit the appellate court’s consideration of the denial of his motion for directed verdict to only the evidence presented in the State’s case-in-chief”); *State v. Hepburn*, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402 (2013) (same); *State v. Harry*, 321 S.C. 273, 468 S.E.2d 76 (Ct. App. 1996) (same).

In the directed verdict motion, counsel for Mr. Custer argued, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, the prosecution proved equipment stolen from the water company ended up on Mr. Custer’s land, “close to his house,” where it was theoretically possible “you could see it from his house,” raising a suspicion that Mr. Custer is guilty of receiving stolen goods because he must have seen it and failed to call the police. Trial counsel argued the State “presented no evidence that [Mr. Custer] knowingly received goods that he believed to be stolen.” Counsel argued convicting Mr. Custer merely because the stolen property was found “close to his house” would be “a tragic conclusion.” R. 242-43.

The Solicitor relied on *State v. Atkins* and argued, “Guilty knowledge is seldom susceptible of proof by direct evidence and may be proved by circumstances from which

such knowledge may be inferred.” 244 S.C. 213, 216, 136 S.E.2d 298, 299 (1964).⁹ To infer knowledge the stolen goods were on his land, the Solicitor argued Mr. Custer should have heard his dogs barking in the middle of the night when the property was left there, “should have seen it” the next morning, and “only somebody with particular knowledge of this property would know where they could hide these two items.” R. 244-47.

In response, counsel for Mr. Custer argued “some real mental gymnastics” are required to follow the State’s theory regarding Mr. Custer’s supposed knowledge, pointing out the Solicitor conflated the knowledge necessary to prove constructive possession with the knowledge necessary to create reasonable belief property must be stolen when someone offers to sell an obviously valuable item at a substantially reduced price without producing proper documentation. Counsel further observed:

[A]s far as constructive notice that it was on his property, the testimony was it was around 1 a.m. and then the first thing the next morning. I mean, we’re talking about maybe six hours, maybe seven. It’s not a situation where the stuff was out there for weeks or even days. They just, they don’t have evidence that he knowingly possessed stolen goods or knew the goods were stolen. And it’s just not good enough to say, well, he should have seen it was across from his house.

R. 247-49.

The Solicitor countered by arguing “circumstantial evidence is allowed to prove the evidence [that] is not in the record” and:

The circumstantial evidence is he should have seen the backhoe from the house; and if he didn’t already know it was there, he would have taken other actions than deny knowing that anything about it basically. So given the circumstantial evidence that we believe the State has put forward, we think we’ve met at least the burden, which is low, and it’s any evidence, not what

⁹ The Solicitor also relied on *State v. Evans*, No. 2014-UP-131, 2014 WL 2581485 (S.C. Ct. App. Mar. 26, 2014); however, unpublished opinions have “no precedential value.” Rule 220(a), SCACR.

kind of evidence, but any evidence taken in the light most favorable to the State, then we survive the directed verdict motion.

R. 249-50.

The trial judge recognized the State's evidence is "totally circumstantial" and acknowledged the State is required to prove Mr. Custer had "constructive possession of the stolen property and knowledge." R. 351-52. During the charge conference, the trial judge acknowledged "there is no other evidence that connects" Mr. Custer to the stolen backhoe, dump truck, and trailer other than the inference that arises when stolen "property is found on the property under the defendant's control." R. 365-69.

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