RECEIVED

May 26 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Sumter County
The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000292

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SHAWN DOUGLAS CUSTER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ERNESY A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

215 N. Harvin Street
Sumter, SC 29150
(803) 436-2185

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Here, the State presented circumstantial evidence that Appellant knew or had reason to believe he possessed stolen property. The evidence presented by the State showed that a dump truck, trailer, and backhoe were stolen from High Hills at approximately 12:27 AM on September 21st. (R. 127, 439-41). The dump truck traveled to Appellant’s address where it was turned off at approximately 12:54 AM. (R. 127, 439-41). The same stolen vehicles were located

later that morning on Appellant's property. Investigator Dubose estimated the backhoe was approximately 150 feet away from Appellant's home. (R. 190, 425-27). Appellant later clarified Dubose's estimate when he testified the backhoe was only 80 feet from his home. (R. 340). Dubose and Investigator Mays each testified the backhoe was visible from Appellant's house. (R. 195, 229). In fact, the backhoe was so obviously visible from Appellant's house, Dubose opined "there's no way [Appellant] couldn't" see the backhoe. (R. 209, lines 5-8). When Appellant was informed there were stolen vehicles on his property, rather than seeking to confirm law enforcement's assertion, Appellant went inside his home for fear that law enforcement was "hiding in the woods trying to set me up with something." (R. 358, lines 21-22). The State did not have to prove that Appellant stole the vehicles from High Hills. The State merely had to prove Appellant was in possession of stolen property and Appellant knew or had reason to know the property was stolen. The State proved this by showing the jury that a stolen backhoe was visible from Appellant's house and that Appellant made no effort to contact law enforcement or to return the vehicle to High Hills.

The evidence presented against Appellant was circumstantial, but was evidence nonetheless. The trial judge recognized as much when he made the following ruling: "It is all circumstantial, but at least there's sufficient circumstances in this record. It's the existence of evidence at this point, not the weight of the evidence, so I think there's enough circumstantial evidence in this and I'm gonna deny your motion for directed verdict." (R. 251, lines 16-21). The trial judge's ruling indicates he used the correct directed verdict standard and properly declined to weigh the evidence presented. Rather, the trial judge appropriately allowed the jury to evaluate the weight of the evidence. Therefore, the trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

II.

Appellant failed to properly preserve any issues regarding the trial judge's instruction to the jury on constructive possession because Appellant explicitly waived his objection to the jury instruction. However, even if this issue is preserved, the trial judge properly charged the jury on the correct law of constructive possession and his charge did not improperly comment on or emphasize the evidence presented at trial.

Appellant next argues the trial judge erred in instructing the jurors that Appellant's knowledge and possession of the stolen vehicles may be inferred from the vehicles being found on Appellant's real property. Specifically, Appellant alleges the trial judge's jury instruction was an "improper court-sponsored emphasis of a fact in evidence." (Final Brief of Appellant 12). Appellant's argument fails for two reasons. First, Appellant did not preserve this issue for appeal because he explicitly waived his objection to the trial judge's jury instruction. Even if Appellant preserved this issue for appeal, the trial judge charged the correct law and his instruction did not improperly comment on the evidence presented at trial.

Error Preservation

"In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground. State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001). A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 548 S.E.2d 213 (2001). "The rule is well established that if asserted errors are not presented to the lower Court, the question cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E. 2d 737, 742 (2005). "Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial judge to

preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011). An issue is not preserved for appellate consideration if it has been conceded in the trial court. State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 156-57, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000).

Here the trial judge informed the parties he would offer the following charge on possession:

The Court: In the possession charge it has to prove possession (sic) the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant had both the power and the intent to control the disposition or use of the stolen property. Possession may be either actual or constructive. Actual possession means that the stolen property was in the actual physical control of the defendant. Constructive possession means that defendant had the dominion and control over either the stolen property itself or the property on which the stolen property was found. Mere presence at the scene where the property was found is not enough to prove possession. The defendant’s knowledge and possession may be inferred when a, (sic) when the property is found on the property under the defendant’s control. However, the inference is simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you, along with the other evidence in this case, give it the weight you decide it should have.

(R. 365, lines 14-25 –R. 366, lines 1-9). To the extent that Appellant objected to the aforementioned instruction, he stated “I would ask that that sentence about the mere presence be last before all that about inferences.” (R. 366, lines 24-25 –R. 367, line 1). Assuming that Appellant’s request can be read as an objection, Appellant immediately waived that objection when he told the trial judge “I’m not gonna – Judge, if you say that’s what it’s gonna be, that’s fine.” (R. 368, lines 11-12). The trial judge subsequently charged the aforementioned language to the jury. (R. 403-04). Because Appellant explicitly waived his objection to the trial judge’s jury instruction, Appellant cannot challenge the propriety of the jury instruction on appeal. This issue has not been preserved for appellate review.

Merits of the Jury Instruction

Even if Appellant preserved this issue for appeal, the trial judge's jury instruction was not an improper emphasis of a fact in evidence. The trial judge properly instructed the jury they could draw an inference regarding Appellant's knowledge and possession of the stolen vehicles from the fact that the vehicles were found on Appellant's property. The trial judge's instruction charged the correct law of South Carolina and did not improperly comment on the evidence presented at trial.

"Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law." S.C. Const. art. V, § 21. The purpose of a jury instruction is "to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict." State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). "A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578 (2010) (*quoting State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003)) A jury charge that is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. Mattison at 478, 697 S.E.2d at 583. "Jury instructions must be considered as a whole and, if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error." State v. Jackson, 297 S.C. 523, 526, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989). "The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001).

"The proper charge on constructive possession is to instruct the jury that the defendant's knowledge and possession may be inferred if the substance was found on premises under his control." State v. Adams, 291 S.C. 132, 135, 352 S.E.2d 483, 486 (1987). "The trial judge should explain to the jury that it is free to accept or reject this permissive inference of knowledge and

possession depending upon its view of the evidence.” Adams, 291 S.C. at 135-36, 352 S.E.2d at 486. “Where contraband materials are found on premises under the control of the accused, this fact in and of itself gives rise to an inference of knowledge and possession which may be sufficient to carry the case to the jury.” State v. Hudson, 277 S.C. 200, 203, 284 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1981). “Inference and presumptions are a staple of our adversary system of factfinding. It is often necessary for the trier of fact to determine the existence of an element of the crime—that is, an ‘ultimate’ or ‘elemental’ fact—from the existence of one or more ‘evidentiary’ or ‘basic facts.” Cty. Court of Ulster Cty., N.Y. v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140, 156 (1979).

Here, Appellant complains the trial judge’s instruction on the inferences to be drawn from the presence of the stolen vehicles on Appellant’s property negated the trial judge’s mere presence instruction and constituted “an improper court-sponsored emphasis of a fact in evidence.” (Final Brief of Appellant 17). In support of his argument, Appellant relies exclusively on our Supreme Court’s holdings in State v. Burdette and State v. Cheeks. Appellant’s reliance on the aforementioned cases is misplaced.

In Burdette the Supreme Court addressed the propriety of any jury instruction that tells a jury it may infer the existence of malice from the use of a deadly weapon. State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019). The Supreme Court held the implied malice charge was no longer appropriate because in doing so a trial court “has directly commented upon facts in evidence, elevated those facts, and emphasized them to the jury.” Burdette, 427 S.C. at 502, 832 S.E.2d at 582. Unlike in Burdette, the trial judge here did not elevate or emphasize a fact in evidence. The trial judge merely stated “The defendant’s knowledge and possession may be inferred when the stolen property is found on the property under the defendant’s control.” (R. 404, lines 2-5). The trial judge did not tell the jury the vehicles were found on Appellant’s

property, nor did her tell them the vehicles were under Appellant's control. Whether the vehicles were found on Appellant's property or were under his control was a fact for the jury to decide. However, even if the trial judge instructed the jury that the vehicles were found on Appellant's property, it was undisputed that the vehicles were found on Appellant's property. Appellant never contested this fact. In fact, Appellant conceded in his opening statement and closing argument that the stolen vehicles were located on Appellant's property. (R. 21, 145, 384). Appellant's defense was that he did not know there were stolen vehicles on his property. (R. 383-94). Therefore, the trial judge's jury instruction did not improperly elevate or emphasize a fact to the jury as the trial judge did in Burdette.

Appellant's reliance on State v. Cheeks is also misplaced. In Cheeks the trial judge instructed the jury: "Actual knowledge of the presence of the crack cocaine is strong evidence of a defendant's intent to control its disposition or use." State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 327, 737 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2013). The Supreme Court held the words "strong evidence" were "improper as an expression of the judge's view of the weight of certain evidence." Cheeks, 401 S.C. at 329, 737 S.E.2d at 484. However, the Supreme Court did not find fault with the following language in the trial judge's charge: "The defendant's knowledge and possession can be inferred when a substance is found on property under the defendant's control. However, this inference is simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you along with other evidence in this case and to be given the amount of weight you think it should have." Cheeks, 401 S.C. at 327, 737 S.E.2d at 483. The aforementioned language from Cheeks is nearly identical to the language used by the trial judge in Appellant's case. (R. 403-04). Our Supreme Court implicitly approved of this language in Cheeks. However, this Court need not rely solely on the implicit holding in Cheeks, but can look to the Supreme Court's explicit approval of the contested language in the

context of a drug possession charge in State v. Adams. In Adams, the Supreme Court articulated the correct language a trial judge should charge in a constructive possession of drugs case. Adams, 291 S.C. at 135-36, 352 S.E.2d at 483. The language prescribed in Adams⁵ is nearly identical to the language used by the trial judge in this case. (R. 403-04). Therefore, the trial judge appropriately charged the correct law of South Carolina and did not improperly emphasize evidence to the jury. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

III.

The trial judge did not err in failing to suppress the GPS report showing the movements of the stolen vehicles and the times they were moved because Appellant did not move to suppress the report. Therefore, Appellant failed to preserve this issue for appeal. However, even if this issue is preserved, the State did not violate Rule 5 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure or violate Brady v. Maryland because the State never possessed the GPS report.

Finally, Appellant alleges the trial judge erred by failing to suppress the GPS report showing the movements of the stolen vehicles and the times they were moved because the solicitor failed to disclose the evidence to Appellant prior to trial as required by Rule 5 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure. As an initial matter, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review. When the State notified Appellant and the Court of the existence of the GPS report, Appellant did not move to exclude the report, but rather moved for a mistrial. (R. 101-03). In fact, Appellant indicated the report could be useful to his case and expressed a desire to use it to his advantage. (R. 103). Because Appellant is making a different argument on appeal than the argument he made at trial, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. However, even if preserved, the trial judge did not err in admitting the GPS report because it was

⁵ “The proper charge on constructive possession is to instruct the jury that the defendant’s knowledge and possession may be inferred if the substance was found on premises under his control.” Adams, 291 S.C. at 135, 352 S.E.2d at 486. “The trial judge should explain to the jury that it is free to accept or reject this permissive inference of knowledge and possession depending upon its view of the evidence.” Adams, 291 S.C. at 135-36, 352 S.E.2d at 486.

not in the possession of the prosecution and therefore the State did not violate Rule 5 by failing to give it to Appellant prior to trial.

Error Preservation

Here, Appellant never moved to exclude the GPS report, but rather Appellant moved for a mistrial. When the solicitor brought the existence of the GPS report to the Court's attention Appellant responded by making the following motion: "I mean, so Judge, respectfully I have to ask for a mistrial because I believe that, I believe that evidence could be at a minimum very, very helpful to my case and at a maximum could be exculpatory." (R. 103, lines 2-6). Far from moving to exclude the GPS report, Appellant noted the report could be helpful to him and he indicated his desire to use it. (R. 103). Appellant merely lamented that he did not have time to study the document, and thus he was moving for a mistrial. (R. 102-03). Appellant's motion for a mistrial is not equivalent to an objection to the admissibility of the GPS report. This is especially evident in light of Appellant's expressed desire to use the document to his advantage. The argument presented by Appellant at trial is not the same argument Appellant is making on appeal. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

No Violation of Rule 5/Brady

Rule 5 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provides in relevant part:

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